
8::t ::&$=} SENATE COMMITTEE PRINT 

MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 
3 
Q 


R E P O R T  50 

$ .>. mg:,'.JSUBCOMPITTEE OF THEa 

d l..%.O 

COMMITTEE ON ARMED SERVICES .4
I UNITED STATES SENATE 

EIGHTY-FIRST CONGRESS 

FIRST SESSION 


PURSUANT TO 

S. Res. 42 
INVESTIGATION OF ACTION OF ARMY WITH RESPECT 


TO TRIAL OF PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 

MASSACRE OF AMERICAN SOLDIERS, BATTLE 


OF THE BULGE, NEAR MALMEDY, 

BELGIUM, DECEMBER 1944 


OCTOBER 13, 1949.-Printed for the use of the Committee on 

Armed Services 


- UNITED STATES 

GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 


WASHINGTON : 1949 




COMMITTEE ON ARMED SERVICES 
MILLARD E. TYDINQS, Maryland, Chairman 

RICHARD B. RUSSELL, Georgia STYLES BRIDGES, New Hempshire 
HARRY FLOOD BYRD, Virginia CHAN GURNEY, South Dakota 
VIRGIL CHAPMAN, Kentucky LEVERETT SALTONSTALL, Massachusetts 
LYNDON B. JOHNSON, Texas WAYNE MORSE, Oregon 
ESTES KEFAUVER, Tennessee RAYMOND E. BALDWIN, Connecticut 
LESTER C. HUNT, Wyoming WILLIAM F. KNOWLAND, California 

1. NELSONTRIBBY,C k ~ k  

RAYMOND E. BALDWIN, Connecticut, Subcommittee Chairman 


ESTES KEFAUVER, Tennessee 

LESTER C. HUNT, Wyoming 




MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 


The following report was presented to the Committee on Armed Services 
by the subcommittee chairman, Senator Raymond E. Baldwin, at the 
committee meeting on October IS. The report was unanimously approved 
by the committee and Senator Baldwin thereupon presented it  to the 
Senate on October 14, 1949. 

On March 29, 1949, a subcommittee of the Senate Armed Services 
Committ,ee, consisting of Senators Raymond E. Baldwin (chairman) 
Estes Kefauver, and Lester 0.Hunt, was appointed to consider Senate 
Resolution 42. This resolution was introduced for the purpose of 
securing consideration of certain charges which had been made con- 
cerning the conduct of the prosecution in the Malmedy atrocity case 
and to effectuate a thorough study of the court procedures and post- 
trial reviews of the case. It must be clearly understood that the 
function of this subcommittee is a legislative one only. I t  is not the 
function of this subcommittee, therefore, to retry the cases, to act as 
a board of appeals or reviewing authority, or to make any recommen- 
dations concerning the sentences. The subcommittee has, however, 
found it necessary to fully review the investigative and trial procedure 
in order to make its recommendations. 

The investigation automatically divided itself into specific phases; 
the &st dealing with the charges of physical mistreatment and duress 
on the part of the War Crimes Investigation personnel, and the second 
covering those matters of law and legal procedure which should be 
examined in an effort to determine their propriety and the degree to 
which they might be improved to meet future requirements. As the 
investigation proceeded, a third phase evolved which has caused 
considerable concern and which deals with the motivation behind the 
current efforts to discredit American military government in general, 
and using the war crimes procedures in particular, as a part of that 
plan. 

During the conduct of the investigations, the subcommittee and its 
staff held hearings extending over a period of several months, ex-
amined 108 witnesses, and independently, as well as through other 
agencies, of the Government, conducted careful investigations into 
certain of the matters germane to the subject. It should be pointed 
out that witnesses representing every phase of this problem were 
heard, including persons who were imprisoned at Schwabisch Hall and 
their attorneys, members of the investigating team, members of the 
court who tried the cases, the reviewing oBcers who reviewed the 
record of trial, religious leaders, and other interested parties. Every 
witness who was suggested to the subcommittee, or whom it dis- 
covered through its own efforts, was heard and carefully examined by 
the members of the subcornittee, other hterested Senators, and the 
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2 MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 

subcommittee staff. All affidavits submitted to the committee have 
been translated and studied. I t  is felt that the record is compIete and 
adequate to support the findings and conclusions in this respect. 

An important part of the investigation was the conducting of a 
complete physical examination of many of those persons who claimed 
physical mistreatment, some of whom alleged they received perma- 
nent injuries of a nature capable of accurate determination. These 
examinations were conducted by a staff of outstanding doctors and 
dentists from the Public Health Service of the United States. 

Advice and assistance were also requested from the American Bar 
Association and other groups with particular knowledge in the field 
of law and military courts and commissions. 

In  the minds of a great many persons, the Malmedy atrocities are 
limited to those connected with the Malmedy crossroads incident 
which, in fact, is only a part of the charges preferred against the 
German SS troopers in this particular case. The atrocities with 
which the accused in the Malmedy case were charged were part of a 
series committed a t  several localities in Belgium, starting on Decem- 
ber 16, 1944, and lasting until approximately January 13, 1945.l 
They occurred during the so-called Battle of the Bulge and were 
committed by the organization known as Combat Group Peiper, 
which was essentially the first SS Panzer Regiment commanded by 
Col. Joachim Peiper. All the members of this combat team, and 
particularly those involved in the Malmedy trial were members of the 
Waffen SS organizati~n.~ The regiment had had a long and notorious 
military record on both the western and eastern fronts. On the 
eastern front, one of the battalions of the Combat Group Peiper, while 
commanded by Peiper, earned the nickname of Blow Torch Battalion 
after burning two villages and killing all the inhabitants thereof. 
Peiper had at one time been an adjutant to Heinrich Himmler .Vhe  
prisoners under investigation were for the most part hardened veterans. 

Basically, the atrocities which were committed at 12 places through- 
out Belgium consisted, according to accounts of different witnesses, of 
the killing of approximately 350 unarmed American prisoners of war, 
after they had surrendered, and 100 Belgian civilians. I t  was one of 
the few cases where substantial numbers of Americans were murdered 
en masse. The location and approximate number of persons murdered 
at these various points are contained in the following table:4 

Prisoners 
of war Civilians 

-
Honsfeld, Dec. 17, 1944 .......................................................... 19 ............ 

Bullingen, Dec. 17, 1944 ......................................................... 50 1 

Crossroads. Dec. 17, 1944 ......................................................... 86 ............ 

Ligneuville, Dec. 17, 1944 ........................................................ 58 ............ 

Stavelot, Dec. 18-21, 1944 ....................................................... 8 93 

Cheneux, Dec. 17-18, 1944 ........................................................ 31 ............ 

La Qleize, Dec. 18, 1944 ......................................................... 45 ............. 

Stoumont, Dee. 19, 1944 .......................................................... 44 1 

Wanne Dee. 20-21, 1944..................................................................... 5 

~utrebbis, Dec. 31, 1944 .................................................................... 1 

Trbis Ponts Dec. 18-20, 1944 ..................................................... 11 10 

Petit Thier, Jan. 10-13, 1945 ...................................................... I ............ 


I Charge sheet appendix. subcommittee hearings. p. 1572. 
9 Record of trial pp. 32 to 70. 
a Record of trial' cross-examination Peiper, pp. 1288,1289 1968. ' 
4 Con~pilaliouoi figures ooutaiued iu revieu- by deputy hdgc  adrocntc for mn<rrimeK' 



MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 3 

DEVELOPMENTOF PRETRIALINVESTIGATION 

Concurrently with the defeat of the Germans in the so-called Battle 
of the Bulge, investigations were started concerning the massacre of 
American prisoners of war. This preliminary work resulted in a . 
determination that the Malmedy massacre had in all probability been 
perpetrated by personnel of the Combat Team Peiper, who were 
scattered throughout prison camps, hospitals, and labor detachments 
in Germany, Austria, the liberated countries, and even the United 
States.= Conditions in the prison camps, however, were such that 
after interrogation, those interrogated were able to rejoin their com- 
radcs and all soon knew exactly what information the investigators 
d e ~ i r e d . ~I t  became clear that the suspects could not be properly 
interrogated until facilities were available which would prevent them 
from communicating with eech other before and during and after 
interrogation. According to the evidence submitted to the subcom- 
mittee, it was during this period that it became known that prior to 
the beginning of the hrdennes offensive, the SS troops were sworn to 
secrecy regarding any orders they had received concerning the killing 
of prisoners of war.7 In  accordance with the plan for further investi- 
gation of this case, all the members of the Combat Team Beiper were 
transferred to the internment camp at  Zuffenhausen. They were 
initially there housed in a single barracks where i t  was still impossible 
to maintain any security of communication between the accu~ed .~  
During this time it was learned that Colonel Peiper gave instructions 
to blame the Malmedy massacre on a Major Poetchke, who had been 
killed in Austrisl during the last days of the war.g These orders were 
carefully foliowed by those under investigation. Accordingly, further 
steps were deemed to be necessary, and those prisoners who were still 
suspect were evacuated to an interrogation center a t  Schwabisch Hall, 
where they were housed in an up-to-date German prison, but where 
during investigation they were kept in cells by them~elves.'~ Initially 
there were over 400 of these prisoners evacuated to Schwabisch Hall, 
and from time to time others were transferred to the prison, up to and 
including the latter part of March 1946. I t  was during this period of 
interrogation a t  Schwabisch Hall that the alleged mistreatment of 
prisoners took place. 

For the purposes of this report, the matters under discussion are 
separated according to the three phases of the investigation set out 
above, i. e.: (1) Matters of duress during the pretrial investigation; 
(2) trial and review procedures; and (3) the manner in which current 
situation has been agitated. 
1 .  Matters of duress during pretrial investigation 

During 1948 and 1949 charges were made which caused considerable 
publicity concerning the treatment of these SS prisoners a t  Schwabisch 
Hall. The prisoners were confined a t  Schwabisch Hall from December 
1945 to April 1946 and the pretrial investigations occurred then. 

6 Subcommittee hearings, pp .  34, 270; record of trial, Ex. p. 27. 

Subcommittee hearings, p p .  34. 271. 


7 Subcommittee hearggs,p.  34. 
8 Subcommittee hearmgs pp .  34, 271. 

0 Subcommitteehearings' p. 34. 

10 Subcommittee hearing;, p p .  34, 272,1241, 1242. 




4 MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 

In  April 1946 the pretrial investigations having been completed the 
prisoners were removed to Dachau.ll There their trial began on 
May 16 and continued until July 16. 

Shortly after the defense counsel began to work on the case a t  
Dachau, they prepared a questionnaire for distribution to the accused, 
which contained, among other things, questions concerning any 
physical abuses or d~ re s s . ' ~  The subcommittee made every effort 
to secure the original of these executed questionnaires but they were 
apparently destroyed when the case was over. As a result of informa- 
tion furnished on these questionnaires and statements that had been 
made concerning duress, the defense counsel before trial, through 
their chief counsel, Col. Willis M. Everett reported the matter to the 
Third Army judge advocate in charge of war crimes.13 Colonel 
Everett later conferred with the deputy theater judge advocate 
genera1 for war crimes who ordered an investigation to be conducted 
a t  once by Lt. Col. Edwin J. Carpenter, who testified before the 
subcommittee.14 During his investigation which was completed before 
the trial, between 20 and 30 of the accused who made the most serious 
charges of duress were examined.15 According to Colonel Carpenter's 
testimony before the subcommittee, which was confirmed by independ- 
ent testimony given by the interpreter used by him at  that time, only 
four of this group stated that anyone had abused them phy~ically.'~ 
These four did not claim physical abuse in connection with securing 
confessions, but rather punchings and pushings by guards while being 
moved from one cell to another.17 However, during his investigation, 
considerable emphasis was placed on the use of so-called mock trials, 
solitary confinement, and mention was made of the use of hoods, and 
insults.ls The investigating officer in this case (Colonel Carpenter), 
and the deputy theater judge advocate for war crimes (Col. Claude 
B. Mickelwaite), to whom these charges were made stated to the sub- 
committee that they felt the seriousness of the matters reported by 
the defense counsel were not established and therefore were not of 
particular import, but that the use of some of the tricks, and in 
particular the mock trials had been established, and should be ex- 
plained to the court at  the start of the trial so that i t  could weigh 
evidence introduced in the light of the accusations made by the 
accused.lg 

At the time of the trial 9 of the 74 accused took the stand in their 
own behalf. Of this number, 3 alleged physical mistreatment. The 
court was thereby placed on notice of the charges of physical mis- 
treatment made by those who took the stand in their own behalf, 
and apparently did not feel that i t  was of such importance as to re- 
quire any further investigation or study.'O Some 16 months after 
conviction practically every one of the accused becan to submit affi- 
davits repudiating their former confessions and alleging aggravated 
duress of all types.21 (The word "confession" has been used to de- 

11 Suhcommit t~~hearinas. D. 407. 

12 Subcommittee hearinss, pp. 36, 576. 885. 

!3 Subcommittee hearinss, OD.4%. 9?0,15GO. 1561. 

1' Subcommittee hearings; p ~ . 
4?8. 894; 920. 1564. 

16 Suhcommittee hearinrrs. DD. 887.941. and Everel 

10 ~uhhmmi t t eehearings; pp. 887; 942: 

17 Suhcomrnittee hearings pp. 893, 942-943. 

18 Suhcommittee hemines: p p .  887. SW, 942-943. 

1s Suhcommittee hearinss pp. 891.920. 

20 Subcommittee hearings: pp. 1393, 1423. 

fl Subcommittee files. 




5 MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 

scribe the documents secured from the prisoners. These were in fact, 
in large part, statements which described places, dates, and events in 
which the signer took part or witnessed the acts and conduct of other 
accused.) These affidavits were secured by German attorneys, par- 
ticularly Dr. Eugen Leer, a defense counsel at the trial, who is the most 
active attorney in this case a t  the present time.22 These affidavits 
were later used by Col. W. M. Everett in his petition to the Supreme 
Court for a writ of habeus corpus in this case.23 I n  addition, 
affidavits to such matters were, in a few cases, submitted by others 
who were at  Schwabisch HalI but who were not defendants in the 

Many of these affidavits were so lurid in their claims as to 
shock even the most calloused reader. The subcommittee accord- 
ingly has gone to great lengths to attempt to establish the facts as 
they pertain to these matters. 

Before proceeding with an item-by-item discussion of the types of 
duress alleged by various persons, it is necessary to describe in some 
detail the prison at  Schwabisch Hall and its method of operation. 
The prison is located in the heart of a thriving and prosperous city of 
approximately 25,000 population and is a modern stone-and-concrete 
prison for civil prisoners. Since it is located a t  the foot of a hill, it is 
possible for persons living next to the prison, on the higher ground, to 
look down into the prison yard, and on quiet nights to hear sounds 
from within the prison enclosure. 

The prison was taken over by the United States authorities pri- 
marily for use as an internment center for political prisoners. How-
ever, when it was decided to concentrate the Malmedy suspects at  
this point, a portion of the prison was set aside for the housing and 
interrogation of these men.25 They were separated completely from 
the political prisoners, with the exception of a few of the internees 
who performed routine prison duties. These few gained some knowl- 
edge of the handling of the Malmedy suspects, but were forbidden to 
speak to them.26 

The administration of Schwabisch Hall prison was under the 
control of the Seventh Army and there was a detachment stationed 
a t  the prison for this purpose. This group was headed by a Capt. 
John T. Evans, who testified before the subcommittee and who 
described in detail the normal prison administration. His organization 
was responsible for the housing, guarding, feeding, clothing, medical 
care, well-being, and all other matters pertaining to the prisoners.27 
The men who conducted the interrogation were members of a war 
crime investigating team sent down to the prison from the War 
Crimes Branch through Third Army Headquarters. They had no 
responsibility other than to prepare the case for trial and no control 
over the administrative functions of the prison.28 

There was a considerable difference in the method in which the 
Malmedy suspects and the political prisoners were handled. The 
medical care of the lMalrnedy prisoners was charged to an American 
medical detachment stationed a t  the prison, with necessary hospitali- 

aa Subcommittee hearings p 1433. 
23 Subcommittee hearings' extnbit A p. 1189. 
24 Subcommittee files, ed ib i t  23-alcused affidavits attached to petitions filed by Dr. Eugen Leer on 

February 1,1958, Apri lp ,  1948, Junp 16, 1949, and August24, 1948. 
2% Subcommittee hesrmgs, pp. 31,272,323,805,1241. 
28 Subcommittee hearines, pp. 116,641,864, 1256. 
21 Suhcommittee hearinzs. p. 323 et seq. 
10 Subcommittee bearings, pp. 35, 273,346, 911,1059, 1242, 1243. 
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zation being handled in nearby United States Army hospitals. Ac-
cording to the testimony given the subcommittee, all such medical 
matters were handled by American medical personnel, and only a few 
of the dental cases were treated by a German civilian dentist, who 
came into the prison periodically for the purpose of treating the 
internees. As to the manner of providing dental care, t,here is con- 
siderable variance in the testimony introduced be,fore the subcom- 
mittee, and it will be discussed in detail later in this report. The 
internees were cared for by German medical personnel who were 
interned in t,he prison or who were brought in from the outside.29 

The interrogation team, consist,ing of approximately I 2  members,30 
set up offices in one wing of the prison. They were primarily on the 
second floor, and in this same wing there were cells used for interroga- 
tion as well as for the administrative a.ctivities of the In 
addition there were five cells whi.ch in design and c,onstruction were 
different from the normal cells found throughout the prison.32 The 
subcommittee checked many of the prison cells. The normal ones, 
without exception, were well-lighted, adequate in size for two or more 
occupants, had t ' o i l e t ~ , ~ ~  and were on a central heating plant with 
radiators that apparently were working during the time the prison 
was occupied by the Malmedy s u ~ p e c t s . ~ 9 h e s e  cells uTcre of solid 
construction with a solid door contai~ling a small peephole through 
which the occupant could be seen and hearcl. Loud conversation or 
noise within the cells could be heard by occupants of ot.her cells, 
and, of course, if they called through the windows it could be heard 
pretty generally throughout the prison.35 The five cells referred to, 
which were located immediately adjacenh to the cells used for inter- 
rogation, differed in that they had smaller windows which were higher 
in the room and therefore did not give as much light. The cells 
were adequate, as far as size was concerned, for one or two occupants.36 
They all had flush toilet,^. However, th.e.re was an interior iron grille 
immediately inside the ma,in door which separated the prisoner from 
the door itself.36 Food conld be, and according to testimony before 
the subcommittee was, passed to t,he prisoners through an aperture 
in the steel grille at  the !ower part of the grille on t,he right-hand side 
as the cells were entered.36 I t  ma,s in these five cells that prisoners 
were retained during certain phases of their interrogation. They 
have been labeled by various persons as death cells, dask cells, and 
solitary confinement cells. Prom the standpoint of physical con-
finement, there is no evidence before the subcommittee to indicate 
that t,hese cells were any worse than are to be found in nny normal 
prison. However, there is much conflicting testimony as to their 
use. Members of the interrogation team, testifying before the sub- 
committee, stated that no one was confined in these cells for longer 
than 2 or 3 days at  a time, during which they receivecl normal treat- 
ment and rations.37 Other statement,^ have been made to the effect 
that prisoners were kept in the special cells for weeks on and, 

2) Subcommittee hearings, pp. 129, 326, 334,335, 641, 845, 847, 848, 862, 864 et seq., 1256. 

30 Subcommittee hearings, p.  31. 

31 Visual examination by subcommittee; subcommittee hearings, pp. 34, 273, 340, 822, 1262. 

32 Visual examination by subcommittee: subcornmittce hea*,ings, P. 335. 

33 Visual examination by subcommittee: subcommittee hearings, pp. 128 328 336, 865. 

34 Visual examination by subcommittee; subcommittec hearings. PP. ,124: 3511 

38 Visual examination and tests by subcommittee; subcommittee hearings, P. 335. 

38 Visual examination and tests by subcommittee. 

31 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 36, 49, 118, 1241, 1242. 

38 Subcommittee flles. Leer petitions and affidavits. 




7 MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATIOI\T 

some alleged, without Others said they were fed but stayed 
therc for long p ~ r i o d s . ~ ~  that c!xxxction hc pciatcc!I, it shod? 
out that there are only five such cells and several hmdred suspects 
were screened during a period of 4 

The bulk of the Malmedy suspects were housed in a cell block in a 
wing of the prison which was separated from the interrogation cells 
by a c o ~ r t y a r d . ~ ~  Immediately adjacent to this wing, in vrhich most 
of the Malmedy prisoners were housed, was a separate building which 
contained, on the second floor, a hospital dispensary used mainly for 
the political internees.43 The ground floor contained the prison 
kitchen. Up until the time individuals under interrogation for the 
Malmedy crimes had completed their interrogation, they were moved 
through this courtyard and between other points, with a black hood 
over their heads in order to insure security insofar as their knowing 
who else was under in te r r~ga t ion .~~  
I .  Mock trials 

The subcommittee found that, in not more than 12 cases of the 
several hundred suspects interrogated by the war crimes investiga- 
tion team, mock trials were used in an effort to elicit confessions and 
to soften the suspects up for further interrogation. The evidence 
given concerning these trials is extremely conflicting, even among 
the persons who alleged they were subject to a mock trial. There 
is no question that mock trials were used.45 The members of the 
prosecution staff stated that the results obtained were very unsatis- 
factory and that they used this procedure, which they called the 
schnell procedure, on only the less intelligent and more impressionable 
suspect^.^ 

The subcommittee believes the general facts about the trials to be 
undisputed. There was a table within a room, which was covered 
with a black cloth and on which was a crucifix and two lighted candles. 
Behind this table would be placed two or three members of the war 
crimes investigation team, who, in the minds of the suspects, would 
be viewed as judges of the court. A prisoner would be brought in 
with his hood on, which was removed after he entered the room. Two 
members of the prosecution team, usually German-speaking members, 
would then begin to harangue the prisoner, one approaching the matter 
as though he were the prosecutor or hostile interrogator, and the other 
from the angle of a defense attorney or friendly in te r r~ga tor .~~  The 
subcommittee could find no evidence to support the position that the 
suspect was told, specifically in so many words, that anyone was his 
defense attorney. However, there is no question that the suspect 
quite logically believed that one of these persons was on his side, and 
may have assumed that he was his defense counsel." The subcom- 
mittee does not believe that these mock trials were ever carried 
through to where a sentence was pronounced, nor was any evidence 
found of any physical brutality in connection with the mock trials 

30 Subcommittee files, Leer petitions and affidavits. 
4OSubcommittee files. Leer petitions and affidavits. 
( 1  Subcommittee files,pp. 34,35, 136, 272. 
42 Visual inspection by subcommittee' subcommittee hearings p. 366. 
43 Visual inspection by subcommitteef subcommittee hearings: pp. 647, 648, 1261. 
44 Subcommittee hearings pp. 35 346 353 367 1276 1300 1326. 
45 Subcommittee hearings' pp. 4iet ai., 1 i 4  et h.,2k,355 et al., 666, 1267, 1299, 1330. 
46 Subcommittee hearings' pp. 134 '306. 
41 ~ubcommjttee hearings: pp. 40. ii7,118, 157, 162, 276,340, 397, 723, 807, 831, 872, 1267, 
4s  Qubcommlttee files, posttrial affidavits of accused. 



8 M A L M E D Y  M A S S A C R E  I N V E S T I G A T I O N  

themselves. I n  fact, one witness who was attacking the war crimes 
investigation team procedures testified that there was no brutality 
in connection with a mock trial a t  which he had served as a reporter.49 
When these mock trials had reached a certain poict they would be 
disbanded and the prisoner talcen back to his cell, after which the 
person who had posed as his friend would attempt to persuade the 
suspect to give a ~taternent.~ '  

Thc subcommittee feels that the use of the mock trials was a grave 
mistake. The fact that they were used has been exploited to such a 
degree by various persons that American authorities have unquestion- 
ably leaned over backward in reviewing any cases affectcd by mock 
trials. As a result, it appears many sentences have been commuted 
that otherwise might not have been changed.jl I t  is interesting to 
note why such a procedure was started. Lieutenant Pcrl, one of 
the interrogaters, stated that the so-called mocli trials were his sug- 
gestion, and had been pstterned after German criminal procedure with 
which the suspects were familiar.j2 Since he was a native-born 
Austrian, and a continental lawyer, the procedures seemed proper to 
him.53 Because of the great attention paid to the mocli trials by the 
Simpson Commission, and because Judge Van Roden publicized them 
so thoroughly, the subcommittee has mad2 a comprehensive study of 
the pretrial procedure prevalent on the Continent. The full report 
on this subject is a part of the subcommittee r e c ~ r d s . ~ "  

It is a fact that in France, Germany, and Austria there is an estab- 
lished pretrial examination procedure in which an examining judge 
hears evidence from any and all persons concerned. Generally speak- 
ing, this procedure is only used in the most important criminal cases. 
During this pretrial investigation t,he evidence that is secured may 
be of the most circumstantial nature, but it is later admissible at  the 
real trial for such probative value as the court desires to place upon 
it.55 Thc subcomrnittee is fully sf the opinion that this was the basis 
for the use of the so-called mock trials, even though they differed in 
the window dressing and stage effects that the interrogation team used 
for their own purposes. 
2. Solitary confinement 

The subcommittee feels that there is no doubt that many of the 
suspects in the Malmedy case were kept in separate cells for extended 
periods of time, but has no criticism or complaint of this normal 
practice. This is because i t  was necessary to keep the suspects sepa- 
rated until interrogation was completed. The preponderance of evi- 
dence showed beyond a reasonable doubt that such confinement mas 
under the most favorable conditions that the circumstan~es permitted, 
and that during this time the men were fed, were warm, and suffered 
no more inconvenience than one would normally except to find in an 
ordinary civilian prison in the United States. 
3. Short rations and bread and water 

The subcommittee is convinced that, with the exception of one 
occasion, the suspects in the Malmedy matter were fed three ade-

'u Subcommittee hearines. D. 157 et sea. 

50 Subcommittee hearin&: 6.276 
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quate meals a day. Some of the persons who had been interrogated 
at Schwabisch Hall testified before tzhr subcommittee, and on other 
occasions, that the food supply was adequate,56 which corroborates 
completely the statements of the administrative staff of the prison, 
including the American medical personnel, who were categoric in 
stating that the prisoners were well fed.57 The one excrption was in 
late December 1945, during a period of time which varies according 
to the testimony from four meals, according to the American medical 
personnel, to 4 days, according to some of the suspects in the case, 
during which all of the Malmedy suspects were placed on bread and 
water.58 I t  is an established fact that it was punishment placed on 
the group because of the efforts of some of the prisoners to commun- 
icate with others by marking the bottoms of their mess kits.59 It 
was also testified that it required some time to eradicate the markings 
from these utensils before they were put in use again.60 The American 
medical officer in charge stated that when he learned that they were 
on a bread and water diet, he went to the prison commander and the 
chief of the war crimes investigation team and told them that he 
would not permit bread and water punishment to be given unless 
properly reported. Accordingly it was stopped.61 The subcom-
mittee was unable to ascertain accurately as to how many regular 
meals the prisoners missed. Varying testimony ranged from four 
meals to 4 days.62 However, the prisoners received adequate bread 
and water during this period which punishment is both legal and 
sometimes used within our own Navy and Marine- Corps. Other 
than this, there appears to be no evidence that the prisoners were 
either starved or placed on short rations, and certainly it should not 
have affected the securing of evidence by the war crimes investigating 
team. 
4. Failure to supply drinking water 
. A quite freq;eni allegation made by the suspects was that they 
received no drinking water during the entire period of their incarcera- 
tion, and were forced to drink from the toilets in their cells.63 The 
subcommittee does not feel that there is any foundation for this charge, 
or competent evidence to support it. This conclusion is arrived at  
first because of the direct testimony to the contrary by members of the 
American administrative staff, including the guards, the doctors, 
medical personnel, and the members of the war crimes investigating 
team.64 This evidence taken by itself might not be conclusive, but 
several of the suspects who were interrogated by the subcommittee 
testified that they received regular food, a change of underwear once a 
week, shaving equipment and washing water every morning, but no 
drinking water.65 On cross-examination those who alleged they 
received no water gave conflicting answers, and admitted they received 
other liquids with their meals.66 One, who claimed he never received 

86 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 1473 et seq., 1503. 
81 Subcommittee hearings pp. .321 351 821 846, 864. 
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82 Subcommittee hearinqs pp 186 187 298 847 1473. 
83 Subcommittee files, affihavits df aclused; su6committee hearings, p. 1479. 
84 Suhcommjttee hear!ngs, pp. 128,328,644,821,866. 
88 Subcommlttce hearmgs pp. 1478, 1479. 
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drinking water during his entire stay a t  Schmabisch Hall, had pre- 
viously testified he had been on bread and water for 4 days.6i There 
was competent testimony that one of the duties of the guards was to 
bring water when called for by the prisoners, and not one was denied 
water when he asked for it. The subcommittee does not feel that such 
charges can be supported, because it is difficult to believe that a group 
of people who were admittedly supplying all of the necessities of life 
to the suspects would deliberately deprive them of drinking water. 
6. 	Use of hoods 

It is an undisputed fact that hoods were placed over the heads of 
the suspects when they were moved from their various cells and back 
and forth around the prison.63 Some few isolated charges have been 
made that the hoods were bloody and dirty.69 The subcommittee 
accepts without question the fact that the hoods were used, but in 
view of the previous difficulties incurred in this case when no security 
was used, and the necessity of keeping from one prisoner the knowledge 
of other suspects who also were being questioned, the subcommittee 
does not condemn the use of the hoods. Members of the prison 
administrative staff, testifying before our subcommittee, stated that 
they personally had inspected the hoods; that they were not dirty, 
and they had never seen any evidence of blood on any of the hoods.i0 
However, the subcommittee recognizes that it would be possible for 
hoods used for such purposes to become dirty, or, in the event of an 
accident, or through deliberate action of an individual, for them to have 
become bloody, without the responsible persons knowing of it. 
However, the weight of evidence shows to the contrary, and the sub- 
committee feels that the particular cha,rge of hoods being bloody is 
unproven. 
6. 	Beatings, kickings, torture, and other physical brutality 

Many of the accused in the Malrnedy trial, as well as the so-called 
eye witnesses, have testified that they were beaten severely and 
sadistically, not only by ~ u a r d s  moving them around the prison, but 
by the staff of the war crmes investigating team, for the purpose of 
securing confession^.^^ By constant repetition, and the multiplicity 
of these charges, they have been accepted by some persons as fact. 
They have been published repeatedly in various forms. In  attempt- 
ing to arrive a t  the facts in this case, the subcommittee first of all 
studied the affidavits prepared by the accused some 16 months after 
conviction, in which the accused claimed beatings, tor';ure, and other 
duress, for the purpose of securing confessions. The subcommittee 
noted that an investigation was made of these charges before the trial, 
when the defense attorneys alleged duress to the war crimes authorities, 
and an investigation was ordered.72 Evidence was introduced before 
the subcommittee to show that only four of those alleging duress a t  
that time claimed to have been beaten, and that those claimed the 
beatings had been administered by guards and not for the purpose of 
obtaining confession^.^^ The subcommittee further noted that shortly 
thereafter when the accused were being tried, nine of the accused took 
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the stand in their own behalf, and of these nine, three alleged physical 
beatings or mi~ t rea tment .~~  The allegations do not appear to have 
impressed the court a t  that time. The subcommittee took note of 
the testimony submitted to it by the defense counsel and in particular 
the testimony of Lt. Col. John S. Dwinnell, the associate chief defense 
counsel, who stated that he had been primarily responsible for the 
decision that no more of the accused should take the stand in their 
own behalf. He stated that this decision was made because those 
who did testify were lying to save themselves to such an extent that 
they were prejudicing the-cases of other defendai~ts .~~ 

The subcommittee also took note of the fact that one of the witnesses 
for the prosecution, Kurt Kramm, was the subject of a highly disputed 
ruling by the court when the court refused to permit the defense attor- 
neys to cross-examine Kramm as to whether or not his testimony had 
been secured as a result of duress.T6 The subcommittee studied with 
great interest the ruling of the court and found that the ruling appeared 
to be technically correct, for the matter had not been raised on direcb 
examination. No foundation had been laid for the fact that the de- 
fense counsel in asking the question was attempting to attack the 
credibility of the witness or his testimony when the ruling was made. 
The subcommittee noted that the defense attorneys did not contes$ 
the ruling and stated that it was expected that Krarnm would return 
to the stand. There is no question that he could have been called as 
a defense witness. However, the defense did not call Kramm to testify 
regarding any physical duress used on him. The subcommittee took 
notice of the many statements made by defense attorneys, church 
people, and others concerning brutality but found that, without excep- 
tion, they were hearsay to the witnesses and were predicated primarily 
on the affidavits submitted by the accused themselves after convic- 
t i o ~ . ~ ~The subcommittee took particular note of first-hand evidence 
given by persons who were in Schwabisch Hall at  the time these bru- 
talities were alleged to have 0ccurred.7~ Dr. Edouard Knorr, a civilian 
dentist who treated internee prisoners at the prison, made an affidavit 
to the German defense attorneys stating that he had treated 15to 20 l8 

of the Malmedy prisoners for injuries to the mouth in which teeth had 
been knocked out and in one case had treated a man for a ruptured 
jaw.80 Dr. Knorr died this year of arteriosclerosis and so was not avail- 
able as a witness. The subcommittee, through investigation, discovered 
the whereabouts of his assistant who had accompanied him on most of 
his trips to Schwabisch Hall, and summoned her as a witness. This as- 
sistant made an impressive witness before the subcommittee and en- 
deavored to corroborate the statements made in Dr. Knorr's affi- 
davit.81 She testified that she had seen very few of these things with 
her own eyes, but that Dr. Knorr told her of them.82 Furthermore, 
Dr. Knorr had been approached by German defense attorneys for his 
affidavit, and she had helped him to prepare it.83 She also had been 
approached by attorneys after the death of Dr. Knorr for the purpose 
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of securing her own affidavit, and she had discussed it before prepara- 
tion with the defense attorneys.84 She was asked if Dr. Knorr had 
maintained any dental records of the Malmedy patients treated by 
him. She stated that records had been kept but that they had been 
destroyed some time ago on Dr. Knorr's orders. She testified further 
that normally they maintained records of everyone treated by Dr. 
Knorr for 10 years, but that these particular records had been de- 
stroyed within a couple of years after the patients were treateda5 Cer- 
tain aspects of the dental testimony are discussed later in the case in 
connection with the thorough medical exemination made by the 
doctors. 

An internee prisoner by the name of Dietrich Schnell prepared an 
affidavit on October 1, 1948, at  the request of Mrs. Sepp Dietrich, the 
wife of Generd Dietrich, one of the accused in this case.8G This 
affidavit indicated a meticulous and exact knowledge of everything 
that went on in Schwabisch Hall at the time the Malmedy prisoners 
were there.87 If the statements were true, they would raise a strong 
presumption that all the charges made in the various accusations 
were correct. 

Dietrich Schnell is an extremely intelligent former Nazi paratrooper. 
Before t.he war he was a kreisleiter in the Nazi Party in the vicinity 
of G ~ p p i n g e n . ~ ~  A kreisleiter was one of the bulwarks of the Kazi 
Party, and within his area, which consisted of approximately 50,000 
persons, Schnell literally had life-and-death authority over the people. 
Schnell m7as located by the staff of the subc~oxnm~ttce a.nd intemogated 
at  some length. A copy of that interrogation, which is contained in 
the subcommittee's record, indicates clearly that he had carefully 
memorized the most minute details of his affidavit, including det,ails 
of conversations which had been held some 3 years earlier.8g He 
laher was examined .under oath by the subc~mmit tee .~~  On direct 
questioning, which went beyond the inaterid in the original a.ffidavit, 
he changed his story in substantial detail. The conflict in evidence 
was very not,iceable because. of the contrast with the exact.ness of his 
knowledge of all the matters in his original affidavit. The subcom- 
mittee took particular notice of the statements made in his affidavit 
concerning the suicide of one of the suspects named Freimuth. In 
his affidavit he ga.ve considerable details of the Freirnuth matter, 
including the words he used when he was alleged to have shouted 
from the window of his cell to Scl~nell.~' When the prison was 
physically exam.ined by the staff of the subcommittee, with Schnell 
along for the purpose of checking the va,rious parts of his story, it mas 
noted that the cell number given in his affidavit, and which was con- 
firmed by other evidence, was an interior cell from which Frcimuth 
could not have been seen by Schnell. This fact standing by itself 
casts doubt on the authenticiby of Schnell's affidavit. When he later 
a.ppeared before tho subcommittee, he had grasped the significance 
of the situation and attempted to change the location of the cell and 
its number by verbal t e s t i m ~ n y . ~ ~  
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His entire story indicated that it had been carefully prepared and 
rehearsed. Reduced to its essential detail and under examination, the 
only direct testimony that he gave to any beating by members of the 
war crimes interrogation team was one instance which he claimed to 
have seen quite late at  night from a window in the dispensary. He 
stated, on interrogation, that he saw Lieutenant Perl strike and then 
kick an accused being q~es t i oned .~~  The room in which he claimed 
he saw this done was established to be the administrative office used 
by the war crimes investigating team.94 I t  was denied by witnesses 
that this room was ever used for in terrogat i~n.~~ Further, they testi- 
fied that there was interrogation at  night on only one occasion.g6 That 
one interrogation was not conducted by Perl. When Schnell first 
gave this story on interrogation, he described meticulously how Perl 
had struck the prisoner with the back of his hand and then demon- 
strated the way he then kicked him.g7 However, Schnell was taken 
to the prison and placed at  the window in the dispensary where he 
could look into the room in which the alleged incidents were supposed 
to have taken place. By test it was determined that even a tall 
man could not be seen below the waist and that it would have been 
impossible for anyone to have seen a man kick another and describe 
it as Schnell had done on the preceding evening.98 He then qualified 
his earlier statement that he saw Perl kick the man and said he had 
merely seen a movement of his body which indicated that he was kick- 
ing a man, alter which the suspect staggered back into ths 
Schnell also alleged that he had seen the guards beat prisoners with 
clubs as they were being moved from point to point around the prison.' 
This particular charge was made by others who submitted aEdavits 
but mas denied by other witnesse~.~ Schnell also volunteered the in- 
formation that a set of gallows had been in the courtyard. Later 
examination of German guards, who had been present at  the time the 
Malnedy prisoners were there, disclosed that no gallows had ever 
been in Schwabisch Hall.3 When confronted with thcir statement, 
Schnell qualified his statement by saying that the gallows had not 
been erected but had been on the ground and covered with ~ a n v a s . ~  
This was a t  complete variance with his earlier story.5 One other very 
significant item in connection with Schnell's approach to this case 
transpired after interrogation by the subcommittee staff. He stated 
definitely that he had not been in touch with any German attorneys 
or lawyers in this case but had prepared his affidavit a t  the request 
of Mrs. Sepp D i e t r i ~ h . ~  Through investigation the staff discovered 
that immediately after interrogation he called Dr. Eugen Leer, a 
German attorney, who has apparently been coordinating the activities 
of all these pr ison~rs .~ 

The subcommittee is convinced the Schnell, because of his Nazi 
affiliations, was a most interested witness. Because of the many 
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discrepancies in relatively minor matters and because of the definite 
and substantial error in connection with the Freimuth suicide, the 
subcommittee feels i t  should give little credence to the testimony of 
Schnell. Moreover, it is clear that i t  was intended to fit into the 
pattern of well-prepared, well-organized testimony, aimed a t  sub-
stantiating the various allegations made concerning brutality. 

Another witness by the name of Otto Eb!e was located through the 
counterintelligence forces in Europe in the French zone. Eble was 
the man who alleged that he had had burning matches placed under 
his fingernails and was the only one, as far as the subcommittee could 
discover, who alleged that "phony" priests hnci been used in securing 
confe~sions.~ On examination, the subcommittee developed the fact 
that Eble, who had signed his affidavit as "Otto," mas in fact named 
Friedrich Eble; that he had talren his brother's name of Otto and his 
rank and used them during the period of time he was under investi- 
g a t i ~ n . ~Furthermore, he has a record of four convictions on the 
charge of embezzlement, and on occasion, while an internee, escaped 
and lived for many weeks until discovered under the name of Erwina 
Sennhausen, an alleged Swiss citizen.1•‹ Or, interroga.tion by French 
intelligence officers, his brother Otto, whose name had been used, 
stated that the truth was not in his brother Friedrich." While 
testifying before the subcommittee, he gave three separate and 
distinct stories as to why he used his brother's name and rank, and 
each of them was probably untrue. A physical examination was 
made of Eble to determine if there were any scars indicati~g burns 
under his fingernails, which he stated had become infected. No 
evidence was found to support his claim. The doctors who examined 
him stated that in their opinion the man was a pathological liar and 
was incapable of telling the truth.12 

The obviouslp false charges made by this man Eble have been 
thoroughly publicized by Judge Edward L. Van Roden and others.13 
They have spread as truth the false statements of this convicted 
crimina.1 and liar, not only throughout our countrv but abroad.14 The 
results of such publicity have been so serious abroad as to warra.nt the 
special attent,ion of the subconimittee. Furthermore, the subcom- 
mittee cannot but comment that those citizens of t,he Unit,cd States 
who have accepted and published these allegations 8.s t'ruth, without 
attempting to secure verificat,ion of the facts, have done t,heir country 
a grea.t disservice. 

In summary, the su?xommittee considered the following evide,nce on 
the subject of physical brutality and mistreatment after translrtting 
and studying all the affidavits and statements submitted to it. First 
of all, i t  accepted as evidence the affidavits submitted by the Germans 
accused after c o n ~ i c t i o n . ~ ~  I t  is recognized that these affidavits were 
self-seeking, and under examination most of them have not been 
corroborated by the medical evidence and other subcommittec! 
investigations. Second, the subcomnlittee heard the testimony of 
persons who claimed to be eyewitnesses a t  Schwabisch Hall of these 
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various matters, and. their testimonay has been anaiyzeci in some 
detail earlier in the report.I6 Thlrd, the subcommittee heard the 
arguments made by defense attorneys, both American l7and German,ls 
which were not evidence in the normal sense but expressed conclusions 
on the part of witnesses. Fourth, there were several witnesses, 
namely Bailey,l9 Tiel,20 and S l~ane ,~ l  who testified before the sub- 
committee, who in their testimony indicated that they had seen 
incidents which would appear to corroborate, in lund, the statements 
alleged by the convicted accused. On the other hand, the subcom- 
mittee heard the testimony of Lt. Col. Edwin J. Carpenter 22 and his 
interpreter, Paul G. G ~ t h , ~ ~who made an investigation of these alleged 
physical mistreatments prior to the trial, and whose findings did not 
support to the slightest degree the claims of physical brutality made in 
later affidavits by the convicted accused. The subcommittee also 
heard testimony from the war crimes interrogation team personnel,24 
which admittedly was from interested witnesses, but whose testimony 
was given forcefully and convincingly. Many of these individuals 
had requested to testify so that they could state their position under 
oath before the subcommittee. These individuals all testified, cate- 
gorically, that nonc of these physical mistreatments or brutalities 
occurred. 

The subcommittee also heard members of the administrative staff 
of the prison,25 who were responsible for the care and guarding of the 
prisoners. These witnesses had no self-interest in this matter, and 
testified strongly and definitely to the fact that there was no physical 
mistreatment of the prisoner. This testimony was particularly con- 
vincing, since it included the testimony of the doctors and medical 
enlisted personnel who were assigned to Schwabisch Hall for the pur- 
pose of caring for the suspects in this case. The subcommittee itself 
secured a medical staff, consisting of two doctors and a dentist of 
outstanding qualifications, from the Public Health Service of the 
United States. This medical staff independent] y examined all the 
Malmedy prisoners who are presently a t  Landsberg Prison.26 In 
addition, they also examined Eble 27 for evidence of physical abuse. 
They state, of those convicted prisoners a t  Landsberg, 11 claim that 
they were not physically mistreated at  Schwabisch Hdl ,  34 allege 
they were physically mistreated at Schwabisch Hall but do not claim 
to have received injuries which would leave evidence of a permanent 
nature, and 13 allege that they were physically mistreated and have 
injuries of a permanent The medical staff pointed out that 
there was1no question thatithe 11 prisoners were not subjected to 
physical mistreatment at  Schwabisch Hall and that the second group 
of 34 prisoners had no physical evidence to support their claims of 
alleged physical rnis t reatme~t .~~ theOf 13 who alleged physical, 
mistreatment with permanent results, the medical evidence does not 
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support, to any degree, the claim of these prisoners.30 They state 
that 3 had conditions which definitely were not due to physical mis- 
treatment, and that the remaining 10 showed physical findings which 
might possibly have resulted from physical mistreatment, but none of 
these 10 showed evidence of the severe acts alleged by the prisoners.31 

All of the facts and evidence brought t'o the attention of the sub- 
committee through the above sources were analyzed and weighed 
carefully, and the subcommittee believes there is little or no evidence 
to support a conclusion that there was physical mistreatment by 
members of the interrogation team in connection with their securing 
evidence in the Mdmedy case. The preponderance of evidence is 
all to the contrary and there are too many discrepancies which appear 
in the allegations made concerning such physical mistreatment. On 
the other hand, the subcommittee recognizes that in individual and 
isolated cases there may have been instances where individuals were 
slapped, shoved around, or possibly struck, but is convinced that if 
this did occur it was the irresponsible act of an individual in the heat 
of anger in a particular situation. Furthermore, it definitely was not 
a general or condoned practice. There is no substantial evidence to 
support the belief that any persons were affected, insofar as their con- 
victions were concerned, by physical mistreatment of this kind, even 
if it might have occurred in isolated cases. The subcommit~tee is 
convinced that the confessions made by the prisoners, and the evidence 
submitted at the trial were not secured through physical mistreat- 
ment of the accused. 
7 .  Posturing as priests 

The charge that members of the American interrogation team 
postured as priests for the purpose of securing confessions has been 
widespread throughout our country. This is primarily due to the 
speeches made by Judge Edward L. Van Roden and the publication 
of his remarks by the National Council for the Prevention of War, and 
other similar organization^.^^ The sole source of the charge was, 
insofar as the subcommittee was able to determine, the witness 
Eble33 whose testimony was discussed in detail above. For the 
reasons previously stated, the subcommittee believes that absolutely 
no credence can be given to any statement made by Eble, who is a 
convicted criminal and a liar, and that there is no truth to this charge. 
It is considered most unfortunate that many prominent religious 
people have been misled by the use of the uncorroborated statements 
of this man, and apparently accept the allegation as being true. 
As will be noted throughout this report, many of the most flagrant 
charges which have been so widely publicized in this case can be 
attributed first to the affidavit prepared by Eble, second to the 
cloak of authority given to his statement through the media of the 
publications and speeches of Judge Van Roden, and third by the 
organized dissemination of this information both in our country and 
abroad by the National Council for the Prevention of War. 
8. Inadequate medical facilities 

Many of the affidavits submitted by the persons interrogated a t  
Schwabisch Hall alleged that they were denied medical attention for 
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such ailmentq as they might have 34 There iq no question that there 
was an American doctor and enlisted personnel stationed at Schwa- 
bisch Hall at  all times while the Malmedy prisoners were there.36 
These doctors testified before the sub~ommittee,~~ as did their superior, 
Captain Evans.37 Their testimony was clear, professional, and 
convincing. I t  is clear that they had complete responsibility for the 
physical condition of the suspects and that they made every effort to 
meet their responsibilities. I t  was also noted that while some suspects 
allege they did not receive medical attention, many other affidavits 
make reference to treatment by medical officers, enlisted personnel, 
and trips to American medical facilities away from Schwabisch Hall.38 
These latter statements made by some of the suspects corroborate the 
statements made by the American personnel. Therefore, i t  is the 
opinion of the subcommittee that there were adequate medical facilities 
available and in use for the Malmedy prisoners a t  Schwabisch Hall. 
In this connection, the affidavit of Dr. Knorr should again be ex- 
amined.3Q In this affidavit he claimed that he had treated 15 to 20 
cases in which teeth had been knocked out and in 1 case a ruptured 
jaw. The dental member of the subcommittee's staff examined the 
teeth of all the accused who were convicted and who were confined 
at Landsberg Prison. He examined several cases in which teeth 
were alleged to have been knocked out. His report is contained in 
the subcommittee record and throws considerable doubt on the truth 
of the allegation^.^^ I t  should be noted that only one of this group 
claimed to have been treated by a German civilian dentist. The 
rest all stated they were treated by American dental personnel a t  
various points.41 This tends to place doubt on the accuracy of the 
affidavit of Dr. Knorr. 
9. 	Threats against families of the accused, and fraternization with wives 

of the accused 
Several of the affidavits in this case allege that members of the 

interrogation team threatened the prisoners by telling them that ration 
cards would be taken away from their families and other punitive 
measures would be taken against them if the suspects in question did 
not confess.42 The degree to which such threats were used is hard to 
establish, but the subcommittee believes that in some cases some of the 
interrogators did make threats of this l&d. I t  is questionable as to 
the effect such statements would have on the type of individual under 
interrogation, but it is hard to believe that tlvs by itself would make 
a man perjure himself to the point of making a false confessidn and 
bearing false witness against his comrades. Therefore, the sub-
committee concludes that in some cases such threats might have 
been used but believes they were not general in character. 

There were no charges made that members of the interrogation team 
fraternized with wives of the accused prior to the time of trial. How-

34 Subcommittee files, affidavits of accused attached to petitions prepared by Dr. Leer dated February 
2, April 12, June 16, and August 24,1948. 

Subcommttee hearings, pp. 355, 640, 844, 862. 
38 Snhrnmmittnn hnarines. - . -. ,nn.= 844.., Rfi2...-.. - . ... . -. --. . .. 
31 Subcommittee hearings, p. 322 et seq. 
38 Subcommittee ffles, affidavits of accused submitted by Dr. Leer. 
39 Subcommittee files. affidavit attached to Dr. Leer's petition of June 16. 1948. 
40 Subcommittee hearings, p. 1616 et seq. 
41 Subcommittee.hearings, p 1616 et seq . subcommittee files. 
42 Subcornmittee-files, accusid's affidavii'attached to Dr. Leer's petition. 



,I8 MALMEDY MASSACRE INVESTIGATION 

ever, it was developed by the Raymond Board 43 that subsequent to 
the trial, but before sentences were passed, two members of the in- 
terrogation team took several of the wives to the officers club where it 
was obvious that they were drinking together. While this could have 
had no possible effect on the outcome of the trial, in the opinion of the 
subcommittee it showed a lack of good judgment on the part of the 
individuals concerned and should not be condoned. One of those 
involved, who was not an interrogator, but a clerk with the inter- 
rogation team, was sent back to the States as a result of this incident, 
and the other, testifying before the subcommittee stated that it was 
the only time that such a thing had occurred, and that he had been 
wrong.44 His attitude was such as to convince the subcommittee 
that all realized that a mistake had been made. There were no 
charges or evidence that any other members of the investigating team 
ever fraternized with the wives of the accused. The subcommittee 
assumes it is the sole incident and that it has been properly handled 
by the responsible authorities. 
10. Use of stool pigeons 

Many of the affidavits alleged that the interrogation team used stool 
pigeons for the purpose of securing evidence.45 This is freely ad- 
mitted by the members of the interrogation team as a part of their 
normal practice,46 and the subcommittee finds no grounds for com- 
plaint for such activities. Traditionally the use of stool pigeons has 
been practiced by our American prosecuting authorities and is a 
recognized practice in criminal investigations. 
1I . Tricks of various kinds and mental duress 

Practically all of the affidavits alleged that the prisoners had been 
tricked or mentally harassed to a point where they became confused 
and as a result signed false confession^.^' The subcommittee made a 
determined effort to find the natureibof these various tricks. Apparently 
the members of the interrogation team gave considerable thought as to 
how they could break down the resistance, silence, and deception on 
the part of an individual in order to get him to talk. The pretended 
use of microphones; 48 the pretense of having information from other 
accused implicating the suspect being interrogated; 49 the plus and 
minus system, whereby members of the interrogation team would 
keep a score in front of the man, putting down a plus when he told the 
truth and a minus when he was thought to be lying, thereby leading 
him to believe that mathematically they were going to determine his 
guilt by the answers he gave; 50 the indentification of a particular 
mark on his body; 61 and the confronting of individuals with other mem- 
bers of the organization who had turned state's evidence.62 All of these 
methods were used for the purpose of getting the prisoners to talk. 
There is no question that such methods were used. The subcommittee 
feels that they cannot condemn them since they represent the usual 
and accepted methods used in criminal investigations. I t  would seem 

43 Subcommittee files, report of Administration of Justice Review Board, EUCOM, testimony of Harry 
Tbon. Subcommittee hearings, p. 1281. 

44 Subcommittee hearings pp 1281 1283. 
48 Subcommittee Eles, accked's affidavits attached to Dr. Leer's petition. 
46 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 278 807 
41 Subwmmittee Elm, accused's ahdavits attached to Dr. Leer's petition. 
4s Subcommittee hearings. pp. 662, 827. 
40 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 224,614, 628, 805, 806. 
60 Subcommittee hearings, p. 1269. 
81 Subcommittee hearings. P. 524. 
89 Subco~mittee hearings, pp. 661, 696, 803. 
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that the buk,of the success of this interrogation stemmed from the 
ability to confuse and deceive a group of persons who had had an 
opportunity to prepare their stories in advance, and who to a marked 
degree were involved in a conspiracy to avoid the consequences of the 
acts in which they had participated. These prisoners with a few ex- 
ceptions were hardened, experienced members of the SS who had been 
through many campaigns and were used to worse procedure. 
12. Promises of acquittal 

I t  was charged that many of the statements were obtained through 
promising a man that he would go free if he told the truth and thereby , 

implicated othersab3 Considerable argument and discussion has already 
been had on this particular point, and the evidence submitted to the 
subcommittee is very conflicting. There is no question but that the 
interrogation team published instructions in the form of SOP No. 4, 
which in section 4 discussed this particular matter.54 There is no 
question but that section 4a specifically forbids that any promise of 
acquittal be made, but 4b appears to be a modihation of the prohibi- 
tion in the earlier section. All the members of the interrogation team 
who testified before the subcommittee stated that no one was promised 
that he would not be tried if he would turn state's evidence and impli- 
cate others.55 In fact, SOP No. 4 required that before anyone could 
make such a promise the officer in charge of the interrogation team 
had to approve such an agreement, and they categorically stated that 
this was not done. Therefore, it is the belief of the subcommittee 
that while SOP No. 4 would appear to indicate that such arrangements 
could have been made, it does not appear from the evidence before 
the subcommittee that any such promises were made. I t  is recog- 
nized that it is quite a common practice in criminal cases for state's 
attorneys in the United States to get a man to turn state's evidence 
upon the promise that if he tells the truth he would be recommended 
to the court for leniency. Here again, the subcommittee finds it 
extremely diEcult to assess blame because of the instructions issued 
by the interrogation team, particularly since it appears that these 
instructions were never put into operation. However, this is an area 
in which great care must always be exercised and there is no question 
that SOP No. 4 was ambiguous in its phraseology. The subcom- 
mittee believes that the final decision as to whether or not any im-
munity should be granted should be the decision of the court and not 
of those responsible for conducting the interrogation of suspects. 
13. Fake hangings 

Several of the persons who submitted affidavits in this case testified 
that they were either threatened with hanging or in fact did have a 
rope placed around their necks and were pulled up off their feet several 
times until they lost consciou~ness.~~ One of those who made this 
claim was Eblels7 whose testimony has been thoroughly discredited 
and is completely unacceptable to this subcommittee. Many wit- 
nesses were questioned as to whether any of them ever saw ropes or a 
rope being used in Schwabisch Hall. This has been denied by every- 

23 Subcommittee files accuseds' affidavits attached to Dr. Leer's petition. 

64 Subcommittee h e A g s  p 272 see exhibit p.12W. 

66 Subcommittee hearings1 p i . 51%et a]. 663 '824 825 1278. 

68 Subcommittee Eles affihavits of acched itts&eb to Dr. Leer's petition. 

b7 Subcommittee files: Eble's affidavit attached to Dr. Leer's petition of April 12, 1948, subcommittee 
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one 58 with the exception of a witness who testified that prisoners were 
led around with a rope about their necks.5g All witnesses questioned 
on this point, with the exception of Eble," denied that such practices 
were ever followed. The subcommittee feels in the absence of com-
petent evidence to support the allegations concerning hangings that, 
in fact, they never happened. 

I1 

MATTERS PERTAINING TO T H E  TRIAL AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 

(Supplemental report to  be rendered when American Bar Association reports) 

The rules of procedure under which this case was tried were not 
those that are used by the Anglo-Saxon nations in regularly consti- 
tuted military or civilian courts.61 In  attempting to evaluate the 
manner in which the court was conducted, the subcommittee soon 
found that it was impossible to do so until this point was clearly 
understood. For this reason, a brief history of the development of 
the war crimes procedures should be of interest. 

I n  1945, the London conference drew up a charter for international 
military tribunals 62 to implement the decision to treat as war crim- 
inals individuals of the separate states who violated the so-called rules 
of war. The prosecution of war criminals is nothing new in the 
history of our country. After practically all of our wars, our own 
military courts have tried members of the enemy forces who were 
charged with the commission of war crimes.63 However, this war 
brought into being for the first time the concept of an international 
military court for the trial of war criminals. 

Prior to the late war there was an unwritten international doctrine 
that heads of states would not be held responsible for acts committed 
by them in such capacity. The decision of the London conference 
which resulted in the London agreement, and the charter of the Inter- 
national Military Tribunal before which Goering and other major Nazi 
leaders were tried and convicted, represented the views and decisions 
of the major Allied Powers engaged in that war. Personal responsi- 
bility of heads of states and of individuals for offenses committed by 
them was recognized and set down as accepted principles of the laws 
of war.'j4 The International Military Tribunal for the Far East adopt- 
ed these principles in the trials of the major Japanese war criminals. 
Both of these tribunals were composed of the representatives of 
several of the nations involved in the conflict in each area. 

The rules of procedure adopted for the trials before the international 
military tribunals represented a compromise between the various legal 
procedures of the several Allied nations. They were a composite of 
Anglo-Saxon and continental codes of justice. 

The subsequent proceedings against other major Nazi war criminals 
at  Nuremberg were conducted before military tribunals authorized by 
the Allied Control Council for Germany (Control Council Law NO. 10). 
They were appointed by the zone commander, United States zone, 

35 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 346, 367 et al. 
so Subcommittee hearings, p. 158. 
'0 Subcomm~ttee hearings p. 1515. 
81 Mihtary Government ~ a u u a l  for Legal Officers, p. 11,par. 14; also Mllitary Government Regulations, 

title 5, scc. 593 (a);subcommittee hearings, p. 922 et seq. 
01 Subcomm$teo hearings, pp 918, 1583. 
83 Subcommittee hearings, p. 918 et seq. 

04 Subcommittee hearings, p. 1584. 
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part were judges from various State courts of the United States. The 
rules under which these courts operated were the same as those under 
which the first Nuremberg tribunal operated,65 and such courts have 
been regarded as international in character. 

In  addition, the various nations, within their respective zones of 
occupation in Germany,66 and in other areas, established their own 
national military courts for the trial of lesser war criminals charged 
with violations of the laws of war. In  the American zone these courts 
were called military government courts which under appropriate 
directives were created especially for the trial of war criminals. I t  
appears that in general the rules of procedure under which these courts 
operated were an adaptation of the rules of procedure adopted for the 
Nuremberg trial. The court that tried the Malmedy case was of this 
type. 

The Malmedy trials deal with violations of laws and customs of 
war long recognized as such; specifically, the murder of prisoners of 
war and noncombatant civilians. The Geneva (prisoner of war) 
convention of July 27, 1929, and the Annex to Hague Convention 
No. IV  of October 18, 1907, sets out a positive duty to protect pris- 
oners of war against acts of violence and prohibits the killing or wound- 
ing of an enemy who had laid down his arms and no longer has a 
means of defending himself. 

In connection with procedure it is pertinent to quote from the 
Technical Manual for Legal Officers prepared by SHAEF. This was 
the basis for later rules of procedure which governed American military 
government courts. Section 14 of that manual reads as follows: 

MIIJTARY LAW.-The law of military government thus created should not be 
confused with the statutory law of the respective United Nations governing their 
armed forces. 

Further, this manual also contains a guide to procedure in military 
government courts, and in paragraph 9, section I ,  the following quote 
brings out one of the basic differences between the system employed 
in this case, and that normally followed by our civilian or military 
courts: 

9. EVIDENCE.--RU~~12 does not incorporate the rules of evidence of British 
or American courts, or of courts martial. The only positive rules binding upon 
the military government courts are found in rule 12 (3), rule 17, and rule 10 (5). 
Hearsay evidence, including the statement of rt witness not produced, is thus 
admissible, but if the matter is important and controverted, every effort should 
be made to obtain the presence of the witness, and a n  adjournment may be ordered 
for that  purpose. The guiding principle is t o  admit only evidence that  will aid 
in determining the truth. 

The military government court at  Dachau, which tried the RIalmedy 
case, was operating under these rules of procedure. 
Composition of the court 

The accused in the Malmedy case were tried before a general mili- 
tary government court appointed by paragraph 24, Special Orders 
No. 90, Headquarters, Third United States Army, dated April 9, 1945, 
which was subsequently corrected by paragraph 32 of Special Orders 
No. 117, Headquarters, Third Army, dated May 10, 1946.67 

65 Subcommittee hearings, p. 918. 

66 Subcommittee hcarmgs, p 918. 

07 Subcommittee hearmgs, p. 1574. 
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The following officers were members of the court: 
I. Brig. Gen. Josiah T. Dalbey. 
2. Col. Paul H. Weiland. 
3. Col. Lucien S. Berry. 
4. Col. James G. Watkins. 
5. Col. Wilfred H. Stewart. 
6. Col. Raymond C. Conder. 
7. Col. A. H. Rosenfeld, law member. 
8. Col. Robert R. Raymond, Jr." 

Time and facilities available to the defense 
One of the complaints made by the defense counsel was that they 

were not given adequate time to prepare their case for defense.68 
They pointed out that there were 74 accused in this case, and that the 
pretrial interrogation was completed about the middle of April, and 
on April 17 or 18 the accused were brought to Dachau where the trial 
was to be held. The trial began on May 16. 

Col. Willis M. Everett, Jr., chief defense counsel, was appointed in 
the early part of April, but it was not until April 11 that the defense 
counsel were able to start a~sembling.~~ finally organized When 
about April 20 the defense staff consisted of Col. Willis M. Everett, Jr., 
Lt. Col. John S. Dwinnell, Lt. Col. Granger G. Sutton, Capt. B. N. 
Narvid, Second Lt. Wilbert J .  Wahler, Mr. Herbert J .  Strong, Mr. 
Prank Walters; and the following German counsel: Drs. Max Rau, 
Heinrich M. Wieland, Otto Leiling, Pranz J. Pfister, Eugen Leer, and 
Hans Hertko~.~O Of this group, the experience and capabilities of the 
defense counsel varied to a considerable degree, but Colonel Everett, 
Colonel Dwinnell, and, i t  was reported, Lieutenant Wahler had had 
considerable court experience. The German attorneys were lawyers of 
considerable experience but were not familiar with the manner in 
which American military courts functioned .71 

Testimony before the subcommittee shows that the initial group 
meeting was about April 20, and that all the time prior to that was 
considered by the defense counsel to be lost time, excepting that 
Colonel Everett, the chief defense counsel, and two others, were 
making administrative arrangements such as securing table, desks, 
telephones, e t ~ . ~ '  This physical equipment was requisitioned from 
the Army, and there was no particular difficuty in getting delivery 
of all the necessary items.73 Testimony also indicated that i t  was not 
until approximately 2 weeks before the trial started that the defense 
counsel received the bulk of the pretrial statements made by the 
accused, and what was purported to be the bills of particulars on which 
the individuals and the entire group would be tried.74 

The record discloses that there was a maximum of approximately 
4 weeks for the defense to get ready before the trial started, which 
appears to be too short a time for the study and development of a 
proper defense, in a case of such major proportions, and in which 
there were 74 accused. It was further testified before the subcom- 
mittee that it was a very difficult proposition to secure the confidence 

'Excused by verbal orders of commanding general and did not participate in any of the proceedings. 
88 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 408 et seq., 605, 1557. 
88 Subcommittee hearings, p. 415. 
70 Subcommittee hearings, p. 406; record of trial, p. 314. 
11 Subcommittee hearings pp. 406 1557. 
72 Subcommittee hearing;, p. 415: 
73 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 405, 415. 
14 R n h r o m m i t t ~ ~  417h~nrinnq,n 
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or̂  the accused, ancL 0:- course t8here were language differences which 
made the cldensc problem more ~lifficult.~" 

It is recoynizecl that the defense did have some opportunity to 
continue wit11 their preparations for the presentation of their case 
during the time that the prosecution was presenting its CQSO, and 
that  th.ere was a recess of approximately 7 days, after the prosecution 
rested its case before t'he defense l d  to commence. There is no 
record thnwt, t'hc defense requestcd furt,her time for the purpose of 
preparing tlieir cnsc. It is assumecl thel; if such a request llzd been 
made and propcdy supporlcd, it would have been granted. Thcre 
is evidence that C ~ l 0 i l d  Everett discussed thc inntter with higl~er 
authorit,ies, and that an adrfiinistrntive decision llad been made 
that there would be no adj~urnment , '~but there is no record any- 
where that  a request was made to the court, whkh, in the final 
analysis would be the group tvliid~ should grant such a motion for 
postponen~ent.~' 

Notwithstanding these facts, the subcommittee is of the opinion 
that due to the limited time available, t'he defense was considerably 
handicapped in preparing its case for trial. The subconimittee does 
not believe that this seriously affectccl the outcome of the trial. I n  
the future courts should assure themselves that a reasonably sufficient 
time has been allowed for this purpose. 

Insofar as facilities are concerned, the preponderance of the evidence 
before the subcommittee indicates that t,he Army supplied everything 
that thc defense needed, as rapidly as possible, and assisted them in 
this respect to the greatest possible extent. 
Trial of the accused en mass 

One of the complaints made by the defense counsel in this matter 
was that the court did not allow a severance of the various defendants 
in this case. A motion of severance was filed with the court which 
was denied.78 The granting of such a motion was, of course, within 
the discretion of the court, and the subcommittee does not feel that 
i t  has the authority to serve as an  appellate court t,o judge the ruling 
in  this particular case. The subcommittee feels that i t  1s one of its 
responsibilities, however, to comment on matters which might be 
improved in the case of future trials of this kind. It is noted that  
on a review of this matter by the War Grimes Eeview Board, i t  was 
stated in conclusion that- 

It does not appear that  the denial of the motion resulted in an injustice t o  any 
of the accused t o  such a degree as would warrant a new trial. 

When so many accused, of varying ranks, are being tried together 
on a single charge, there must be some conflict of interest between the 
superiors and the subordinates. 011 the other hand, i t  is recognized 
that the scarcity of officers, and the time elements that are involved 
in matters of this kind, made i t  extremely difficult to conduct large 
numbers of trials for separate defendants. 

The subcommittee feels that this basic rule should govern cases of 
this kind. Where there is more than one defendant and it appears 
that  their joint indictment and triad d l  result in a conflict of interest 
to the extent that an individual defendant or group of defendants will 

78 Subcomrnittce hearings, p. 416. 
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be so seriously prejudiced as to prevent a fair and just trial, they should 
be indicted and tried separately or appropriate severances granted. 
The Krarnm case 

The defense attorneys, and the various petitions for review in this 
case, have laid considerable stress on a ruling by the court in connec- 
tion with the testimony of Kurt Kramm. This man was a prosecu- 
tion On cross-examination defense counsel attempted to 
raise the question of duress which had not been raised on direct ex- 
amination. The lam member of the court sustained the objection of 
the prosecution on the ground it was beyond the scope of the direct 
examination. 

In  order that this matter may be completely understood the follow- 
ing quotations are made from the petition to the Supreme Court of 
the United States, filed by Col. Willis M. Everett in this case:80 

The witness Kramm testified on cross-examination: 
"Q. In what period of time did you tzke part in that  Russian campaign which 

you first mentioned? 
"PROSECUTION.I object. 
"Colonel ROSENFELD. Objection sustained. Not cross-esamination" (record, 

p. 215). 
Cross-examination of the witness: 
"Q. Xom, how often mould you sap you were anprosimately interrogated a t  

Schviabisch Hall? 

"PROSECUTION.
I object. 
"Colonel ROSENFBLD. Objection sustained. 
"Mr. STRONG. Mav I uerv resnectfuliy point out to  the court, with due defer- 

ence, that  this is cross-examination * * * 
"Colonel ROSENFELD. I t  is not cross-examinat,ion, because it is without the 

scope of the direct examination. The court has ruled. The objection is sustained. 
"Q. Kramm, isn't i t  a fact that  you, during the time you meye in Schwabisch 

Hall, signed a statement f w  prosecution, in question-and-answer form. consisting 
of avprosimatelv 20 pages? 

"PROSECUTION.I object again. 
L'Colonel ~IOSENFELD. I t  is the last time t h e  That is not cross-examination. 

court will notifv YOU." (record, p. 216). 
"DEFENSE COUNSEL. it  plnasc the court, on behalf of the defense and i!l 

view of the fact that  t,he witness will return to  the witness stanc! a t  a later time 
during this kial,  no further questions will be asked of the witness a t  this time, 
but we 2,s defense comsel would like a t  this time an amplification of the court's 
rulina on the objection bv the prosxi~t ion t,o our line of questions on cross-
esamina,iion. Do m unde7,stand that in the future we mill be limited to the line of 
quest,ioninq on d ivc t  exalninat,ion of the witness, or will we be ~ e r m i t t e d  to  as!< of 
the witness questions designed primarily to  attack the credibility and veracity 
and hias of the witness? 

"Colone! ROSENFELD. Both the prosecution and the defense n-ill he pcymitted 
to cross-examine t.he witncss other than the accused according to the rules and 
regulatiol~sof cross-examination. Where thc credibility of the witness is to  be 
attacked, the credibilitv ! d l  be attacked in the prescribed manner and the court 
will ;rermit such attack. 

"If the accused or any of the accused take the stand, cross-examination will be 
~ e r m i t t e d  in accordance with thc rules of evidence whereby the accused mav be 
cross-examined on any matter in coni~ection with the case" (record, p. 220-221). 

Testimony given before the subcommittee indicates that the 
defense counsel made no effort to lay a foundation for the attack on 
the credibility of the witness or to attack the manner of interrogation 
at  Schwabisch Hall, nor did they notify the court that this was the 
purpose of this line of ques t i~n ing .~~  For this reason it appears that 
the ruling of the court was technically correct. 

70 Rccord oC trial, p. 166. 
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Although the subcommittee does not take the posltion that i t  has 
the authority to pass on the propriety of rulings made by the court, 
i t  appears that the defense counsel, either through lack of lmo~vledge 
as to how such an attack should be made on the credibility of the 
witness, or for other rcasons, did not cxercise the pxpcr  dilig 0ence 
in pressing this point. The subcommittee fecls that it is the duty 
of the law member of the court to make certain that legal technicali- 
ties do not prevent the court from hearing all pertinent testimony. 
Therefore the law member should have advised the clefense counsel 
as to the proper procedure to use in laying a foundation for an att'ack 
on the credibility of thc witness. 

It is noted in the quoted matter above that defense counsel said 
that they did not desire to cross-examine furt,her a t  that time because 
they expected that this witness would again be on the stand, and the 
inference was that they int,ended to call him as a defense witness, a t  
which time they could have asked such questions on direct examina- 
tion as they saw fit. The subcommittee hesitates to draw an inference 
from the fact that Kramm mas not called to the stand by the clefense 
for the purpose of bringing out any matters of duress that might 
have affected his credibility as a witness for the prosecution. 
Failure of witnesses to take the stand in. their own beharlf 

One point ivhich \iras developed during thc cou.rse of the subcom- 
mit.tee's investigat'ion, which is believed to be of grent importance in 
this case, is the failure of the defense to permit all the accused to take 
the stand in their own 

First of all, t~hrough te~t~irnony introduced before the subcommittee 
by various persons, including the German clefense counsel, and 
Lieutenant Colonel Dwinnell, it appears Lhat it took considerable 
persuasion and argument on the part of certain of the American de- 
fense counsel t'o pe~sua,de the a.ccused not to take the stand. On the 
surface, that apqears to be most unusual. Bt is the opinion of the sub- 
committee that it is an inherent right of an  accused to take the st,a.nd 
in his own defense. Normally, clefense counsel hesitates to persua.de 
a client as to the properness of his course in such a matter. He 
usually limits himself to a present,at,ion of the various things that 
could happen, but leaves the decision strictly u p  to the defendant. I n  
this case, Colonel Everett and Lieutenant Colonel Dwinnell decided 
tha.t it mas best t h t  the defendants not take the stand in tlicir own 
behalf, and argued strongly with them until they convinced them that 
that wa,s the proper course of 

Until the limc of that argument, l ine of t . 1 ~  defmcla~nts hod tz l~en 
the sta.nd in their owl1 behalf.8V&utenant Colonel Dwinnell, in 
testifying before the suhcommitt~ee, stated that these were lying so 
much that they were "like a bunch of drowning rats. They were 
turning on cach other, and they were scared; and, like drowning mcn 
clutching at  straws, they would say: 'No; I wn.s not a t  t,he Crossroads, 
I'm certain I was not, hut so-nncl-so was there,' trying to get the ball 
over into his yard. So we called a halt. Now, horn can xve properly 
represent 74 accused that mere getting so panicky that they were 
willingly saying things t,o perjure themselves?" 

X z  Subcommittc~hearings, pp. 478, IF64 et s ~ q .  

83 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 439, 1564, 1565 et seq. 
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Colonel Everett states that he could not support this statemwt 
because he dicl noC, know whether they were lyiug or not.s5 He felt 
that, with the defendants turning on each other, the case of all was 
being weakened. Further, he believed that the prosecution expccted 
this to happen. These facts led to his decision not to put any more 
on the stand. 

Furthermore, Lieutenant Colonel Dwinnell said that, in his opiliion, 
the prosecution had not established a prima facie case,sG and that he 
believed thal, the court would not convict the Hedefends~nts.~~ 
further stated that they requested an adjour~ment of 2 hours for the 
purpose of conferring with the accused to convince them that they 
oughf, to quit, and fiilally they did. Lieuteilant Colonel Dwinnell also 
testified that there was considerable disagreement initially between 
not only m e ~ b e r s  of the American counsel but between b he American 
and German counsel, and that it took considerable persuasion on his 
part to convince the group that they should no longer take the stand.88 

The subcommittee is unable to judge what testimony would have 
been introduced into the record, and what effect it mould have had 
on the court, had each defendant testified in his own behalf. On 
the other hand, some 16 moqths d t e r  conviction, many of these 
accuseci made clainls of physical mistreatment which they said caused 
them to execute their original confessions or s t a t ~ m e n t s . ~ ~  It mould 
seem entirely likely that, had these statements been proven at, the 
time of the trial to the satisfaction of the court and reviewing authori- 
ties, they might have served as the basis for a different decision 
in this case. Therefore, the subcom~ittee is of the opini3-1 that the 
defense counsel in this case either did not believe the stories of the 
defendants, of which they apparently had knowledge, concerning 
physical mistreatment, or that they erred grievously in not introduc- 
ing such testimony into the record. 

It is diificult for the subcommittee to reconcile the fact that this was 
not done, and the apparent acceptance and support of the various 
members of the defense counsel now give to the affidavits submitted 
some 16 months later by the defendants in this case. 
Lack of information furnished defense attorneys 

One complaint made before the subcommittee was to the effect that, 
because of the manner in which decisions are handed down in military 
courts, thcre is no detail to support or explain why a particular 
individual was convicted.g0 Although i t  was represented to the 
subcommittee by Dr. Leer that copies of the trial proceedings were 
not available to defense attorneys, the subcommittee is of the opinion 
that this was an exaggeration and that copies actually were furnished 
daily to certain defense counsel. On the other hand, the subcommittee 
agrees that it is essential that the completed record of trial to be made 
available to all defense counsel, and this apparently was not done in 
this case.g' 
Reviews and studies of this case 

The subcommittee was keenly interested in the various reviews and 
investigations that were made by the Army of the Malmedy casc, and 
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the a ~ ~ a r e n t  effort that was rna.de to malw cert,n.in t,hh~.t, n n  nPc1l -d  

suifered because of procedural or pretrial errors. 
As in all war-crimes cases, the findings and sentences of t,he court 

had to be reviewed by the staff judge advocate.92 In  this case the 
procedure provided for an initial review by the deputy theater judge 
advocate for mar crimes. Thereafter, there was a review by a mar- 
crimes board of review in the office of the theater judge advocate, 
which considered the recommendation of the earlier review.g3 Both 
of these reviews were then considered by the theater judge advocate, 
who made recommendations to the commanding general of the theater 
(General Clay), who took final action on the cases.g4 

In this connection, the subcommitt,ee noted that initially the case 
mix assigned for review to an aitorney, a civilian employee, by the 
name of Maximilian Iioessler, who testfiedl before the sub~ommit tee .~~  
The record shows this attorney had worked on the case for 5 months, 
and had reached a decision in only 15 of the 73 ca .~es .~VThedecisions 
he lrad reached dsered in a considerable degree from those finally ap-
proved by the coi~manding general, but in some cases Mr. Koessler's 
recommendations mere nlorc severe than those finally approved.97 

According to the testimony before our subcommittee, Mr. Koessler 
went in'co such detail in his reviews that it unduly delayed the com- 
pletion of the con side ratio^ of the case; and t'herefore, after 5 months 
the review of the Rfalnledy case was reassigrred to ot,her lawyers in 
the offce of the deputy theater judge advocate for war crimes.gs In 
due time, the initial review was completed, and the case mas for-
warded to t,he thenter judge advocate for furbher study and trans- 
mission for final approval by the commanding general. 

In order to assist the theater judge advocate in his decisions, he 
had created a secod  review board laown as the mar-(:rimes board 
of r e v i ~ . ~ ~  This group reviewed the case in detail 3n.i  made recom- 
mendations to the theater judge advocate. They differed in a sub- 
stantial number of cases .with the initial review, and, generally 
speaking, were considerably more lenient than the deputy judge 
advocate for war crimes.' 

The theater judge :dvocate then took t'he recommendations of t,he 
war-crimes board of review, along with the record of trial, and the 
initial review, and made his recommendations .to the commanding 
general. Some idea of the results of these various reviews can be 
gained when it is pointed out that, .while there were 43 death sentences 
adjudged by the court, only 12 were Gnally approved by General Clay. 
There were also redueiions in sentences in 41 cases, including the 
original death sentcnces, and 13 outright disapproval of sentences.' 

The subcornmitt,ee noted one procedure which it believes to be 
wrong, and which should not be permitted, although in this case the 
matter reacted to the benefit of the defendants. Lieutenant Colonel 
Dwinnell, who had been the associate chief counsel for the defense 
in the Malmedy matters, was assigned to the war-crimes board of 
review as an adviser to the group that were reviewing the Malmedy 
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cam3 This meant that Lieutenant Colonel DRrinnell was in a position 
to and did influence the recommendations of that review board in 
favor of the defen~e .~  On the witness stand, he stated in response to 
a question as to whether he argued any of his points before the review 
board as follows, "Every day for the dcfen~e".~ I t  is believed to 
be highly improper that any person who has had any connection 
with the trials m any capacity whatsoever should be assigned to 
a position in which he could influence the reviews of these cases. 
This assignment of Licutcnant Colonel Dwinnell might account for 
the fact that the war-crimes board of review recommended a great 
many more disapprovals and a greater degree of lenlency than was 
finally rccommendcd by the thcater judge advocate, and approved 
by the commanding gcncral of the t h e a t ~ r . ~  

Subsequent to these various reviews, which, in effect, were three 
and possibly four up to this point, there have beea two studies made 
by the Army of this case. On July 23, 1948, Secretary Royal1 crested 
the Simpson Commission, which was composed of Judge Gordon A. 
Simpson, of Tesas, and Judge Edward L. Van Roden, of Pennsyl- 
~ a n i a . ~This Commission was assigned the responsibility of making 
an analysis of all the unesecuted death sentences awarded by the 
Dachau courts, which mere 139 in number. Of these 139 unexecuted 
dcath sentences, 12 were Malmedy cases. 

The Simpson Commission arrived in Europe on July 30, 1948, and 
submitted their report on September 14, 1948. Among other recom- 
mendations made by them was that the 12 death sentences in the 
Malmedy case be commuted to life impri~cnment.~ Testimony 
before our suL-,ommittee adduced the fact that this recommendation 
was made because they believed that the pretrial investigations in the 
Malrnedy case may not have been properly conducted, and they felt 
that no death sentence should be executed where such doubts existed.' 

I t  is interesting to note that Judge Simpson stated categorically to 
the subcommittee that in his opinion there had been no physical mis- 
treatment of the accused in the Malmedy matters,1•‹ but that the use 
of the mock trials and similar matters had influenced him in his 
decision. 

However, Judge Van Roden, in testifying before our subcommittee, 
and in speeches and publications after having seen the same evidence 
and heard the sane  witnesses as Judge Simpson, violently attacked 
practically all phases of the pretrial examination. While he admitted 
in his testimony that he had no direct evidence of physical mistreat- 
ment he stated that he was convinced that many of the matters 
alleged by the accused, after conviction, were fact, and that he had 
made his recommendations accordingly." 

.4n examination by thc subcommittee of the !i.;t of witnesses inter-
viewed by the Simpson Commission shows clearly that not a single 
membcr of the pretrial investigation team or of the pr~secut~ion staff 
at  the trial, were interviewed; nor did these individuals have an op- 
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portunity to submit affidavit., concerning their rlctivitiw in the 
Malmedy matter.I2 IL is noted, however, that defense counsel, 0th 
American and German, were heard; religious leaders, and many 
others who were interested witnesses and who were strongly advancing 
the theory that the evidence secured by (heprosecution in this case had 
largely been secured through duress were also heard.13 

Judge Van Roden, on his return to the States, according to the 
evidence before the subcommittee, made a number of speeches and 
collabroated in articles in which he stated as fact that the American 
interrogators tortured, beat, and abused the defendants until their 
confessions were secured.14 The statements made by Judge Van 
Roden were not supported by Judge Simpson and in fact the sub- 
committee is in possession of a letter written by Judge Simpson which 
reads as follows: 

GENERALAMERICANOIL CO. OF TEXAS, 
Dallas, Texas, March 19,1949. 

Lt. Col. BURTON F. ELLIS, 
Assistant Army  Judge Advocate, 


Headquarters S ix th  Army ,  Presidio of S u n  Francisco, Calif. 

DEAR COLONEL ELLIS: Yours of the 23d instant is acknowledged. 
During the progress of this war crimes investigation it  was not practicable for 

us to have the benefit of your views for which I was very sorry. However, we 
were able to get a right accurate picture of the situation. 

I had n great deal of sympathy for Mr. Everett who appeared to me to be 
prompted only by a desire to represent his clients conscientiously and well. He 
may have been overzealous but  I can forgive this in a lawyer when I think he is 
sincere. You might be interested to  know I had information lately that  Colonel 
Everett had a severe heart attack and is in a serious condition. 

Judge Van Roden and I got to be very good friends indeed and I felt greatly 
disappointed when I read in newspapers and periodicals the very extreme state- 
ments he had been making, statements which were based upon allegations rather 
than proof. He was certainly not being helpful nor constructive in any  sense and 
I repeat that  in my opinion he does us all a disservice. 

Sincerely yours, 
GORDONSIMPSON. 

The speeches made by Judge Van Roden were picked up by an 
organization called the National Counpil for the Prevention of War. 
Since that time, which was December 1948, this organization has 
through every media possible, publicized these charges.15 This 
point will be discussed in some detail later. The subcommittee heard 
both Judge Van Roden and representatives of the National Council 
for the Prevention of War, and in fact had them on the stand a t  the 
same time.'6 The only impression that could be arrived at, after 
listening to that discussion, was that there was so much conflict be- 
tween their testimony that the subcommittee believes that i t  has 
secured the whole truth from neither of the witnesses. 

It is the opinion of the subcommittee that the report of the Simpson 
Commission, insofar as i t  pertained to the 12 Malmedy prisoners, was 
not complete in that no witnesses were heard or evidence received 
from the prosecution staff or those engaged in pretrial investigations.17 
Since all the facts in the case were not considered before the conclusions 

12 Subcommittee files, Simpson Report; subcommittee hearings, p. 259. 
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were reached, the subcommittee does not see how the conclusions can 
be sound, especially smce the Smpson report states in part: 

The rccord of trial, horn-evcr, sufficiently manifests thc guilt of the accused to 
warrant the finclings of guilty. We conclude that  any injustice done the accused 
agsinst whom death sentences have been approvcd will be adequately removed 
by commutation of the sentences to inlprlsonment for life. This we recommend. 

Iasofar as Judge Van Roden's statements are concerned, the sub- 
committee has sought out the principal source of some of these state- 
ments. One of the witnesses, Eble,18 is a, confirmed liar and criminal 
in whom the subconmittee places no credcnce whatsoever. Judge 
Van Roden has shown very poor judgment in pubhcizing such state- 
ments without corroborating the facts. Had the Simpson Commission 
interviewed Eble, with his record of embezzlement and perjury before 
them, the subcommittee is certain that they would have decided his 
testimony could not be believed. 

There is no question that the publication of these charges has caused 
considerable anxiety in the minds of some Americans who may have 
read them, because they are so completely foreign to the American 
principles of fair play. Far more serious, however, is the effect that 
the publication of these articles has had on our occupation forces in 
Germany.lg There, they have been accepted beccuse of the cloak of 
authority given them by Judge Van Roden and various other prom- 
inent American officials who have accepted his stalements, and the 
releases of the National Council for the Prevention of FVar, as fact, and 
have publicized them through their own efforts. 

Concurrently with the study of the Simpson @ommission, General 
Clay referred the Malmedy case to the Administration of Justice 
Review Board for its This Board was to studyconsiderati~n.~~ 
irregularities that arose in legal proceedings within the theater, a1.d it 
made a careful and analytical study of charges of irregularities in 
the Malmedy case. It is believed that the facts introduced before 
this Board, which is hereinafter referred to as the Raymond Board, 
were much more complete than those considered by the Simpson 
Commission. 

Colonel Raymond, ~7ho was the senior member of the Board, testified 
in detail before the subc~mrni t tee .~~ He stated categorically, as did 
General Hargaugh, another Board member, that in his opinion there 
had been no physical mistreatment by the American interrogation 
team for the purpose of securing confessions.22 Rigorous examination 
failed to shake him in his position. However they did find other 
items such as the use of the mock trial, ruses, strategems, etc., had 
been This Board made no recommendations on sentences. 

The subcommittee takes note of the fact that in addition to all of 
these reviews and investigation, General Clay himself instituted a 
study of and personally studied and passed upon the 12 death sentences 
in the Malmedy case.24 This in effect was another review of these 12 
cases. As a result of this subsequent review by General Clay, 6 of 
the 12 were commuted to life imprisonment, and 6 of the death sen- 
tences were rec~nfi rmed.~~ itNo death sentence was confirmed if 

18 Subcommittee hearings, p. 1513 et seq. 
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resulted from or was supported by evidence ob~ainea though the 
use of mock trials, or if it  was based solely on the extrajudicial state- 
ments made by other defendants in the Malmedy case, which later 
were rep~diated.~"~ven in the six cases where the sentences were 
commuted, General Clay stated that he was certain of the guilt of the 
prisoners, but would not approve the death penalty unless the record 
was perfectly clear. A typical statement on this point is quoted from 
the case of Friedrich Christ. General Clay states in pertinent part as 
follows: 

To my mind, Christ was a principal in these murders. I believe as  does the 
judge advocate that  he w-as a leading participant. Circumstantially, there can 
be no doubt but that  he was present and, as an officer, took no action t o  prevent 
the crime. Knowing this, it is difficult not t o  approve the death penalty for this 
cold-blooded killer. However, t o  do so would be t o  accept the evidence which 
may have resulted only from the improper administration of justice. Excluding 
this evidence in its entirety in as far as direct participation of Christ is con-
cerned, there is no doubt that  he wa.s present, and cixumstantially did nothing 
t o  prevent these murders. Thus, I have no hesitancy in approving a life sentence. 
It is with reluct,ance but with the firm air of fairly administered justice t,hat I 
commute the death sentence to  life imprisonment. 

The subcommittee is impressed by the thoroughness of General 
Clay's final review. As pointed out earlier, it believes that the use 
of the mock trials so prejudiced the thinking of all who reviewed 
this case that they resulted in otherwise guilty men escaping the 
death sentence or perhaps going entirely free. I t  is the considered 
opinion of the subcommittee that the Army in reaching its final 
conclusion in these cases ruled out any evidence secured by improper 
procedures during the pretrial interrogation, or as a result of proce- 
dural errors made by the court. 
Personnel 

One of the matters which has disturbed the subcommittee con-
siderably is the type of personnel which has frequently been employed 
on both investigative and legal phases of the war crimes program. 
It is recognized that after the end of the war almost everyone with 
suecient points made a determined effort to get back home.26 This 
left the military establishment in Europe in a precarious position 
insofar as trained personnel for carrying on its military government 
activities was concerned. It was essential that German speaking 
personnel be available, and it is perfectly natural that many who 
had command of the German language were called into investigative 
and legal work. 

First of all, the subcommittee feels that the war crimes cases would 
have beec much better handled had the pretrial investigation been 
conducted by trained investigators with sufficient knowledge of the 
law to permit a development of the case along legal lines. It was 
found that many of the persons engaged in this work had had no 
prior criminal investigative experience whatsoever, and had been 
former grocery clerks, salesmen, or engaged in other unrelated trades 
or profession^.^^ It was also found that a surprisingly high per- 
centage of these persons were recently naturalized American citizens.28 

25 Quhcommittee heerines, appendix: Clay's releases on 12 death cases. 
28 Subcommittee hearings, pp. 200, 1054. 
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28 Analysis of record, see individual's statements on this point. 
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This subcommittee wants to make it clear that it is not condemning 
the efforts or the loyalty of any group of persons or individuals, but 
it does fceI thet it was unfortunate that more native-born, trained 
American citizens cvcre not available to carry out this most important 
function. The natural resentment that exists within a conquered 
nation was aggravated by the fact that so many of the persons handling 
these matters were former citizens of that country. 

With few exceptioas the experience 01 the laivyers in the practice 
of criminal cases both for the prosesution and for th3 defense appears 
to have been of only average caliber.2g Schools were started to 
overcome some of the lack of trial experience on the part of many 
of the In  matters of such a serious nature as war 
crimes, the minimum requirements for lawycrs for this branch of 
service should be well above average. Again the subcommittee does 
not wish to appear to be criticizing the eiTorts or the results of the 
individuals concerned, but in ~ointinrr to~vard the future, it recom- 
mends strongly that &equate & u & g  be initiated to make certain 
that trained personnel i d 1  be available to carry out these duties in 
event of another war. Particularly it is felt that a well-established 
and well-orga~ized reserve program, ivith commitments made in 
advance for service beyond the end of hostilities, should be immediately 
inaugurated and carried forward progressively through the ycars 
of peace. 

111 

MOTIVATION BEHIND THE CURRENT AGITATIOX CONCERNING WAR 
CRIMES IN GENERAL AND THE MALMEDY CASE I N  PARTICULAR 

During the early stages of its inquiry into this matter, the sub- 
committee became conscious of the unusual activity in this case of 
certain organizations and individuals. Admittedly the charges that 
had been made were serious in character and, if true, would convict 
American military personnel of grave errors of judgment and opera- 
tion. However, due to the manner in which the allegations in this 
case were being handled, it was also clear that no matte? what the 
facts were in the case, in the minds of a grcat many Americans and 
~racticallv all Germans, the allegations were acce~ted as fact. This 
ivas ceriah to clamage the ~ m e & a n  position in @;&many. 

The subcornmittce fully understands that one of the underlying 
forces in this connection is found in the vigorous efforts of defense 
counsel to improve the position of their clients through every means 
possible. If this were the only factor therc would be little cause for 
comment f l  om the subcommit tee, particularly since the affidavits of 
the accused, in part, have been capable of being checked by the sub- 
committee. 

Represcntative leaders of both the Catholic and Protestant faiths 
in Germany, particularly those in Bavaria and around Stuttgart, have 
been interested in the trials of war criminals. The suhcomrnittee 
endeavored to find and evaluate the reasons therefor. I t  appears to 
your subcommittee that the members of the clergy have been moti- 
vated by a sincere Christian endeavor to assist their parishioners 
during a time of uncertainty and trouble. Such interest is entirely 
understandable and the subcommittee can see no reason for criticism 
."-- - o u i ~ u u l l i u ~ i r ~ a a  ~jj;.i l u l i i i a a ,  p y .  ti;, 
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of the clergy. I t  should be noted that t,heir clct'ivities are not confined 
to the Malmedy case alone, but have been aimed at  the entire scope of 
war crimes and the administration of psisow t,hroughout Germmy 
where war criminals are confined. Your subcommittee believes that 
there is a danger that these sincere Christian efforts of these well- 
intentioned clergy may be used by others to further causes which are 
foreign to the fundamental sentiment which motivated the clergy to 
interest themselves in such cases. 

However, other factors were developed during the investigation 
which, for obvious reasons, cannot be explained in detail in the sub- 
committee report since it might interfere with the later implementation 
of the subcomnlittee recommendations. Through competent testi- 
mony submitted to the subcommittee, it appeared that there are 
strong reasons to believe that groups within Germany are taking 
advantage of the understandable efforts of the church and the defense 
attorneys as well as in other ways to discredit the American occupa- 
tioil forces in generaL3' One ready avenue of approach has been 
through the attacks on the war-crimes trials in general and the 
Malmecly case in particular. The subcommittee is convinced that 
there is an organized effort being made to revive the nationalistic 
spirit in Germany through every means possible. There is evidence 
that at  least a part of this efFort is attempting to establish a close 
liaison with Communist Russia. These matters, of course, must be 
judged against the back drop of the current situation in Europe and 
their probable effect in the event of a war involving Russia and the 
United States. Everything clone to weaken the prestige of the 
United States and our occupation policies will play an important 
part in any emergency. 

Ma.ny of the convicted in the various wa,r-crimes t;!,-ls are former 
prominent Nazis, both civilian and military. In  the Lilalmecly case 
alone there arb three German generals, one an outstanding SS gencral, 
as well as oRicers of lesser rnnk who mere excellent com.bat 
The desire of their former compntriots to have s x h  pasons releascd 
is tindoubtcd. The irnplic,ations are so serious that thc.y cannot be 
disregarded by our country. In  the eveilt of the ~vit~hc!ramd of the 
American occupation forces, it is quite probablc that h r e  would be 
efforts made to have a general amnesty program to release thesc former 
Nazis a d  SS officers. That in itself is n most ixportmt considera- 
tion; but, in the cven'c there is a larger plan to associate such individ- 
uals with the Communist forces of Europc, the problc,m is greatly 
aggravated, The s-ubcommittne believes that such a situation pre- 
sents dangerous possibilit,ies. Whether the organization hn.s proceeded 
beyond the wishful-thinking stage and is making hcadsvay is a matter 
for further study and investigation, 

I t  is significant that many of the figures involvecl in this situation 
are in constant communication with individuals, and organizations in 
the United States. In  particular, one individual, who testificd before 

a Ion, the subcommittee, and who is reported to be a lreyman in this situ t' 
stated that he had been in secular and frequent communication with 
the National Council for the Prevention of War in the United States.33 
This was deemed to be extremely significant because before going t'o 
Ge,rmany the subconlmittee had noted that most of the extraordinary 

31 Subcommittee confidential files. 
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claims being mark in this case, and the systematic publication of 
material concerning it,  was through this organization. Representa-
tives of the organization testifying before the subcommittee confirmed 
this belief by admissions on the witness stand. 

The subcommittee, through outside investigation, has determined 
that the National Council for the Prevention of War and other organi- 
zations have maintained a constant correspondence with certain 
people in Germany and other persons interested in this case. Through 
these efforts, most of the allegations made in this c ~ s e  have become 
accepted as fact, and our prestige in Germany thereby adversely 
affected. The subcommittee is aware of the fact that the National 
Council for the Prevention of War is not on any of the so-called 
subversivs lists that are maintained, but that it has been considered 
as an extreme pacifist organization for some time. Notwithstanding 
the subcommittee is convinced that its activities in this matter, which 
go far beyond the Malmedy case, have been most damaging to the 
national interests of our country, and to the cause of peace. The 
subcommittee feels slrongly that the proprr investigations should be 
made to determine the real motivation in back of the activities of this 
orgsnizntion and the influence it has had on many individuals within 
the United States w h  have accepted as fact the allegations publicizcd 
by it. Other organizsiions which have been similarly interested 
should also be studied. Since adequate investigstional facilitiss are 
not available to the Congress, it is believed that the proper agencies of 
the Government should pursue this matter until d l  the facts have been 
developed, and that such action should be taken as the facts would 
seem to warr-11 t .  

The subcommittee recommends that- 
1. The Secretary of Defense, through proper channels, request the 

United Nations to thoroughly study the problem of war crimes; that 
uniform rules of procedure be agreed upon for the trial of war crim- 
inals, as distinct from prisoners of war, and, as rapidly as possible, 
that such rules be made a part of the codes of justice of the various 
nations. I t  is believed that such rules should provide more civilian 
participation in war-crimes cases than present procedures allow. 
Pending decision on this matter by the international agencies, neces- 
sary legislation should be introduced to remove any legal obstacles in 
the way of remedial procedural action by the United States. 

2. The State Department and the Department of Defense employ 
no civilians on military-government work who have not been Ameri- 
can citizens for at  lcast 10 years. Provisions should be made to 
waive such requirements in individual and spccdic cases except for 
positions involving important questions of administrative or judicial 
policy. 

3. Military personnel engaged in war-crimes work should meet the 
same citizenship requirements. 

4. The Department of Defense should institute a reserve program 
leading to the creation of a pool of trained investigators and lawyers 
for war-crimes work who would be committed to serve beyond the 
cessat,ion of hostilities. S i n c ~  legislation on this point i s  required, 
it should bc submitted promptly for the consideration of the Congress. 
Only through the availability of such trained personnel can pro-
cedural mistakes and mistakes of judgment be avoided. 
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5. The Department of Defense or other appropriate agencies should 
carefully investigate the possibility of the existence of a plan to revlve 
the German nationalistic spirit by discrediting the American military 
government. I t  should also determine if this is a part of a larger plan 
to bring parts of Germany into closer relationship wid1 the Soviet 
Union. 

6. The Department of Justice should determine whether or not 
activities are being carried on in this country which are of such a 
nature as to discredit and injure American prestige and our public 
interest in Germany. If such should be established, appropriate 
action should be taken under proper Federal statutes. If additional 
legislation is required, appropriate recommendations should be made 
to tshe Congress. 

A 
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